# RECEIVED

11-01-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1261 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

GARY R. SCHUMACHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Circuit Court for Monroe County, the Honorable Todd L. Ziegler Presiding Circuit Court Case No: 2017CF132

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC P.O. Box 5414 Madison, WI 53705 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

Attorney for Appellant

## **

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Was Gary Schumacher denied the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to adequately cross-examine the State's expert witness regarding the unreliability of retrograde extrapolation and the expert's estimates of Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving?

Trial Court Answered: No.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue in this case involves the application of well-settled law to the facts of this case; therefore, neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Judgment of Conviction entered on July 18, 2018, in the Circuit Court for Monroe County, the Honorable Todd L. Ziegler presiding, wherein the Court entered judgment on a jury verdict finding Gary Schumacher guilty of one count of operating with prohibited alcohol concentration (3rd), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (72; App. 101-02.) Schumacher was also convicted of hit and run but does not appeal that conviction.

This case arises out of an automobile accident involving Schumacher and another vehicle that occurred near Schumacher's home on the evening of February 7, 2017.

Page 6 of 35

Schumacher was charged in relevant part<sup>1</sup> with OWI (3rd), hit and run, and OWI-PAC (3rd). (1.)

A jury trial was held on July 12, 2018. (122.) The jury found Schumacher not guilty of operating while intoxicated but convicted him of hit and run and OWI-PAC. (65; 66; 67; 122:341-42.)

Schumacher was sentenced on July 18, 2018, to 125 days jail on the OWI-PAC count and 30 days jail on the hit and run count, to run consecutively. (72; App. 101-02.) That sentence was stayed pending appeal. (79.)

Schumacher filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial arguing that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine the State's expert witness regarding the unreliability of retrograde extrapolation and the assumptions used by the expert to perform her calculations regarding Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving. (102.) A *Machner* hearing was held on June 19, 2019, at which trial counsel testified. (130.)

The court denied Schumacher's motion. (110;130:44-54; App.170-80.) The App.181; court Schumacher failed to meet the first prong because trial counsel's actions were "within the professional norms." (130:50; App.176.) The court also held Schumacher failed to show he was prejudiced because he had not shown the expert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A charge of resisting and obstructing was dismissed prior to trial. (122:9.) Schumacher was also convicted by the court of several non-criminal traffic violations, including failure of occupant to notify police of accident, operating motor vehicle without proof of insurance, and failure to wear seat belt. (72; App.101-02.) These non-criminal violations are not at issue in postconviction proceedings.

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-01-2019 Page 7 of 35

would have testified that his blood alcohol concentration was below the legal limit. (130:51-53; App.177-79.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Around 8:45 p.m. on February 7, 2017, Monroe County Sheriff Sergeant Ryan Lee was dispatched to a two-vehicle crash that occurred near the intersection of Highway 131 and Nightingale Avenue in the Township of Sheldon. (122:106.) Lee arrived at the scene forty-five minutes after the initial call came out. (122:108.) There, he found B.C. and A.W., the occupants of one of the vehicles. (122:109-10.)

B.C. and A.W. told Lee they were heading northbound on Highway 131 when a red truck driving southbound turned left at Nightingale and collided with the driver's side left quarter panel of their vehicle. (122:110, 173-74, 183-84.) Both vehicles stopped after the accident occurred. (122:111, 184.) B.C. and A.W. left their vehicle to talk to the driver of the red truck. (122:174-75, 184.) B.C. testified that when he approached the vehicle he was upset, yelled at the other driver, and opened the driver's vehicle door. (122:187-89.) B.C. and A.W. testified the driver gave his name then left the scene of the accident, turning onto Nightingale and stopping at a residence just up the hill from the scene. (122:176-77, 185-87.)

A.W. testified she could smell alcohol when she and B.C. spoke to the other driver in his vehicle. (122:175-76.) A.W. also testified the driver had a confused demeanor and slurred speech. (122:178.) However, she did not report this to police at the time. (122:154, 181.) B.C. did not smell alcohol on the driver, but testified he assumed based on his actions that the driver was intoxicated. (122:154, 184-85.)

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-01-2019 Page 8 of 35

Sergeant Lee went up Nightingale to investigate and found a red truck with damage, which was found to be registered to Schumacher. (122:115-16, 118.) Lee then knocked on the door to Schumacher's residence and questioned him regarding the accident. (122:119.) Lee testified that by this point it was approximately one hour after the accident had been reported. (122:121.)

Schumacher told Lee he was driving and had been in an accident. (122:120.) Schumacher said he initially stopped at the scene, but ultimately left because he did not feel comfortable staying because of the way B.C. spoke to him. (122:121.)

Lee testified Schumacher admitted he had consumed one or two Pabst Blue Ribbon beers prior to the crash. (122:121.) Schumacher also told Lee he had consumed alcohol after the crash. (122:122.) Schumacher did not specify exactly how much during their conversation, instead indicating that Lee could look around his apartment to see what he had drank. (122:122.) Lee testified he did not see any open containers around the house. (122:122-23, 147-48.) Schumacher testified he had gestured toward his sink, where he had placed empty beer containers. (122:233, 240.)

Lee testified Schumacher's speech was slurred and deliberate, his eyes bloodshot and glossy, and there was a moderate odor of alcohol from Schumacher's breath. (122:124.) Lee asked Schumacher to step out of his house and requested that he perform standard field sobriety tests. (122:129-30.) Schumacher declined to perform the standard field sobriety tests, stating he had disabilities. (122:131, 151.)

Schumacher was arrested on suspicion of operating while intoxicated. (122:132.) He was taken to the Sparta Mayo Hospital, where he consented to a blood draw.

(122:135-36.) A blood sample was taken from Schumacher at 10:56 p.m. on February 7, 2107. (122:141; 191-92.)

### Expert Testimony at Trial

Schumacher's blood sample was sent to the State Lab of Hygiene, where it was analyzed and peer reviewed by Kristin Drewieck. (122:200.) Drewieck opined, based on her review of original analyst's work, that Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration at the time of the blood draw was 0.171 grams per 100 mL of blood. (122:208.)

Drewieck admitted on cross-examination that she did not know the concentration of alcohol in Schumacher's blood at the time of the accident, which was around 8:45 p.m. (122:209.) On redirect, Drewieck testified she could estimate a blood alcohol concentration at an earlier time knowing what the blood alcohol concentration was later, but that the estimate would only be as good as what additional information was available to her. (122:210; App.117.) Drewieck explained,

I would need to know as far as possible, as much as possible, what the drinking consumption was like; was there a lot of drinking between 8:30 and 8:45; was there any continuing consumption between 8:45 and 10:56; what -- the specific individual we're talking about, are they male -- in this case, obviously -- what their weight is. Food potentially could have an impact, if they had a full stomach at the time of consumption. Those are the big things.

(122:210-11; App.117-18.)

Drewieck was then asked to estimate Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration at the time of the accident,

assuming "the individual was roughly 200 pounds and ... assume there was no additional alcohol consumption in that two-hour time period." (122:211; App.118.) Drewieck estimated a blood alcohol concentration ranging between 0.190 to 0.210, explaining:

Page 10 of 35

All I did for this calculation was evaluate how much alcohol had been removed from the body during that intervening two-hour period, because I was told, assume no, you know, continuing absorption, no continuing consumption.

So basically there's a range of elimination. The vast majority of people would fall within that range. Depending on how frequently a person consumes alcohol, if someone is a teetotaler and consumes alcohol very rarely, then their body eliminates it much more slowly. A chronic consumer, even an alcoholic, can eliminate alcohol pretty quickly because their body has gotten more used to it. They are a little better at it, okay?

For the purposes of these calculations I use kind of an average in the middle. I certainly can do a range if you would like, but in this case, I used an average elimination rate, which is supported by scientific literature, the studies that have been done that I talked about earlier.

(122:211-12; App.118-19.)

Schumacher's trial counsel did not cross-examine Drewieck regarding this opinion. (122:213; App.120.)

Schumacher testified that on February 7, 2017, he consumed three Pabst Blue Ribbon beers prior to the accident, between 6:00 p.m. and 7:30 p.m. (122:226-27, 239,

241-43.) Schumacher testified he was not drunk when drove. (122:244-45.) After the accident happened, Schumacher left the scene because he felt he was being threatened by B.C. (122:228-30.) He returned to his house just up the hill from the scene of the accident. (122:229.) There, he drank three to four beers and about two shots of whiskey prior to Sergeant Lee arriving. (122:230-31, 243.) Schumacher had consumed the two shots of whiskey immediately before Lee arrived at his house. (122:244.)

The State called Drewieck as a rebuttal witness. She testified the allegations of additional alcohol consumption after the crash and prior to the blood draw would change her calculation of Schumacher's estimated blood alcohol concentration at the time of the accident. (122:258; App.122.) In order to do the recalculation, Drewieck testified:

[W]e are starting with a known alcohol concentration of the time when the blood was drawn. That's a known concentration. Then we are accounting for the time span in between. We are accounting for the amount of alcohol that was consumed before the blood was drawn but after the driving.

The things that go into that type of calculation are knowing some information about what a person consumed when; information about that person like I talked about earlier, their weight, their gender, those sorts of things.

It is just an estimate. The solid number that we have is the blood alcohol concentration that was reported on the sample that was tested in our laboratory.

(122:259; App.123.) In performing the calculation, Drewieck did not consider alcohol consumed prior to driving, she only

considered the alcohol consumed after driving by subtracting that from the known test result:

Page 12 of 35

Using standard concentrations for those drinks, because I don't know offhand what Pabst Blue Ribbon alcohol concentration is, and my internet isn't working in the building, and my phone, I couldn't connect to the wifi. So using a standard alcohol concentration for a beer of 4% and using for the shots a standard 100 proof one ounce for each shot, okay, and the beer is 12-ounce cans, I would estimate that under that scenario with the information as I just stated, the blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving would be somewhere between 0.08 and 0.11, with those assumptions that I stated.

(122:264; App.128.)

The State also asked Drewieck to quantify how many drinks a blood alcohol concentration "is equivalent to" starting at 6:30 p.m. (122:165-66; App.129-30.) Drewieck testified,

This calculation looks at the total time span of consumption from 6:30 to the test result, okay? Because during that whole time alcohol is being removed through the process of elimination, okay?

So we have to add that back in to what I call the theoretical maximum. That is, if a person consumed all their alcohol immediately and it immediately all went into their blood stream and it was available to be tested all at once, okay, that's – so that's why we have to account for what's been lost during that elimination time.

Okay, I also then have to calculate what each standard drink would contribute approximately to a blood alcohol concentration in a 200-pound man, okay?

So I calculated that a 200-pound male who consumes one alcoholic beverage, one standard alcoholic beverage, that one drink would contribute approximately 0.019 grams per 100 milliliters to that person's BAC, okay. Then I take that number and I divide it by the theoretical maximum that accounts for the elimination time. And I would estimate that -- this is just an estimate -- but that it would take, under the scenario as I was given it, 12 to 13 drinks for a 200-pound male to reach 0.171, accounting for that time span.

(122:266-67; App.130-31.)

Drewieck explained the theory behind her calculations was retrograde extrapolation:

> The "retrograde" part just means we're working back in time. The "extrapolation" is the part that says we're figuring out a BAC at sometime other than the test result.

It's widely used to evaluate drinking situations like this. As I've stated all along, and you even said yourself, the calculation, the estimate is only as good as the information that goes into it, and it's absolutely nowhere near as reliable and as solid as the test result itself.

But this type of calculation is based on scientific principles of absorption and elimination and how alcohol spreads throughout your body. So it's based on science. Depends on how good the information is that I am given.

(122:267-68; App.131-32.)

On cross-examination, trial counsel asked Drewieck whether her calculation would change if the alcohol consumption ended at 9:50 instead of 9:30. (122:268-69; App.132-33.) Drewieck testified that it would not. (122:269; App.133.) Counsel also asked whether the size or amount of the alcoholic beverage would impact her calculation, and Drewieck testified it would. (122:269; App.133.) Finally, counsel asked how Drewieck determined the standard alcohol value of 4% in a beer. (122:269-70; App.133-34.) Drewieck testified that was the standard value used in calculations, while acknowledging that different types beers may be higher or lower. (122:170; App.134.)

### Machner Hearing

Schumacher filed a postconviction motion alleging his counsel was ineffective for failing to effectively cross-examine the State's expert witness regarding the unreliability of retrograde extrapolation and the assumptions used by the expert to perform her calculations regarding Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving. (102.) A postconviction hearing was held on June 19, 2019, at which Schumacher's trial attorney testified. (130.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to trial counsel's testimony, the State argued Schumacher's motion failed to meet the burden to warrant an evidentiary hearing because it failed to show that Schumacher was prejudiced by any deficient performance because the motion contained no "information or allegations how this could be that the defendant would be under the legal limit of .08." (130:3-5.) Schumacher argued that because the expert's testimony was the only evidence the jury heard regarding how

Trial counsel acknowledged that, because Schumacher had admitted to driving, the key element to the OWI-PAC charge was Schumacher's blood alcohol level at the time of driving. (130:13-14, 26; App.148-49, 161.)

Counsel testified he had two years of experience as an attorney at the time of Schumacher's trial, which was his second OWI trial. (130:13, 22; App.148, 157.) Counsel believed he had attended at least one seminar or course related to OWI offenses but did not recall the material that covered or whether it included retrograde calculations. (130:23-24; App.158-59.)

Prior to trial, counsel reviewed the state's expert report. (130:14; App.149.) Counsel believed he identified areas for potential cross-examination in the report but did not recall what those areas were. (130:15; App.150.) Counsel did anticipate the expert using retrograde extrapolation to calculate Schumacher's blood alcohol level at the time of driving. (130:15; App.150.) Counsel testified he discussed strategy related to retrograde calculations with other attorneys in his office prior to the trial. (130:26; App.161.)

Counsel was familiar with retrograde extrapolation from his review of books and materials focusing on defending OWIs that were available "around the office." (130:15; App.150.) However, counsel was unable to provide specific titles of books or materials he used to prepare for trial. (130:15; App.150.) Counsel testified he reviewed materials

Schumacher likely absorbed and eliminated alcohol so as to estimate his blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving versus the time his blood was drawn, trial counsel's failure to call the expert's calculations into question prejudiced Schumacher. (130:7-8.) The court found the motion sufficiently alleged both deficient performance and prejudice to proceed with the evidentiary hearing. (130:9-10.)

critical of retrograde extrapolation and was familiar with the criticisms within the field of those using those calculations, as well as the different variables that would affect the retrograde extrapolation calculations, such as "height, weight, drinking history, thing along those lines." (130:15-16; App.150-51.)

Counsel believed he attempted to talk to the state crime lab regarding the end results and the calculations made in this case prior to trial but was not successful in speaking with anyone regarding the case. (130:28-29; App.163-64.) His reason for attempting to speak with an analyst at the crime lab regarding retrograde extrapolation was that, "obviously, especially given the PAC allegation, it's fundamental to the case." (130:29; App.164.)

Counsel testified he did not ask any questions on cross-examination regarding the expert's initial calculation of a blood alcohol concentration between .19 to .210 because,

So I thought the expert had actually done a pretty good job herself of qualifying how she had come to the conclusions in the -- in her testimony. It was, you know, the fact that she had brought up that there were a number of variables, she was making guesses. So I didn't want to beat a dead horse. I thought it would be apparent to the jury.

(130:16-17; App.151-52.) On cross, counsel elaborated he did not want to "double down" on things the expert already said because he did not think it would be perceived well by the jury. (130:30; App.165.) He did not believe there was "anything new for me to elicit, and I really just thought she went over the issues herself." (130:30-31; App.165-66.) It was trial counsel's opinion that the expert's testimony came across as "pure conjecture," so he did not feel it necessary to cross-examine her. (130:30; App.165.)

Counsel testified he was familiar with the particular criticism that retrograde extrapolation is not reliable where only one variable, the final test result, is known. (130:17; App.152.) Yet counsel chose not to highlight this criticism during cross-examination after Drewieck used retrograde extrapolation make calculations based only on the later test result. (130:17; App.152.)

Page 17 of 35

Counsel testified that after the expert's rebuttal testimony, in which she estimated a blood alcohol level ranging between .08 to .11 at the time of driving, he felt there were things missing from the expert's calculation. (130:18; App.153.) For example, counsel believed that food consumption and rates of absorption and elimination would impact the resulting calculations. (130:18-19; App.153-54.) Despite this, counsel agreed he did not question the expert regarding whether and how food consumption could play into the calculation. (130:18; App.153.) He did not recall whether he questioned the expert regarding absorption or elimination. (130:18; App.153.)

Counsel stated his reasons for not questioning the expert about these issues:

So I think the single factor that I was keyed in on is it was very late; the trial had gone on for a long time. And, being honest, I don't think it looked like the jury was paying attention at all at that point.

I think I might have talked with other attorneys before I went up to do the cross. I don't recall exactly. But I figured I had maybe a few questions that they would pay attention to, so I just tried to focus on the things that I thought someone in the jury would know, like, you know, that's a really low assumption for an alcohol content for a beer or that a shot was poured

perfectly or in that amount, things like that. I figured I had a really limited window to actually make an impression on the jury.

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