Brief of Respondent

Filed 03-05-2020

Page 1 of 18

RECEIVED 03-05-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1261-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

GARY R. SCHUMACHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD ZIEGLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

SARAH M. SKILES Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1093720

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Monroe County 112 South Court Street Rm 2400 Sparta, Wisconsin 54656 (608) 269-8780 monroe.call@da.wi.gov

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly found Schumacher's trial counsel was constitutionally effective in cross-examination of the State's expert witness.

A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

Criminal defendants are guaranteed the right to counsel by both the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Wisconsin. This right guarantees criminal defendants more than nominal representation; such representation must be effective. *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis.2d 485, 499 (1983). However, "[a] defendant 'is not entitled to the ideal, perfect defense or the best defense but only to the one which under all the facts gives him reasonably effective representation.' "*State v. Rock*, 92 Wis.2d 554, 560 (1979).

The inquiry into whether an attorney rendered effective assistance is focused on the reliability of the proceedings and not on the trial outcome. *State v. Love*, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 126 (2005). Effective representation does not equal a not-guilty verdict. *Rock*, 92 Wis.2d at 560. Therefore, in order to prevail on a claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction, the defendant must prove both that (1) his lawyer's representation was deficient and (2) that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the court concludes the defendant has not proven one prong of the test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697. The purpose of this inquiry is to ensure the defendant receives a fair trial. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 126 (1990).

A lawyer's performance is not deficient unless he "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland* at 687. To demonstrate deficient performance, a defendant must show trial counsel's actions fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* at 688. More

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 6 of 18

specifically, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. 690. This is a heavy burden because judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance is highly deferential. Id. at 688. The courts "indulge" in a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and "made all the significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable judgment." State v. Glass, 170 Wis. 2d 146, 151 (Ct. App. 1992). Courts must not second-guess trial counsel's performance through the skewed perspective of hindsight. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; see also Felton, 110 Wis.2d at 502 (The Wisconsin Supreme Court "disapproves of postconviction counsel second-guessing trial counsel's considered selection of trial tactics or the exercise of professional judgment in the face of alternatives that have been weighed by trial counsel.") If tactical or strategic decisions are based on rationality founded on the facts and the law, the courts will not find those decisions constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, "even though by hindsight we are able to conclude that an inappropriate decision was made or that a more appropriate decision could have been made." Felton, 110 Wis. 2d at 502.

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show trial counsel's errors were so serious that the defendant was deprived of a fair trial and a reliable outcome. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. The defendant has to show there is a reasonable probability that, but for the alleged defect in counsel's' performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different given the totality of the evidence that was adduced at trial. *State v. Thiel*, 264 Wis.2d 571, 616 (2003). The defendant must affirmatively prove prejudice; mere speculation is insufficient. *Johnson*, 153 Wis.2d at 129.

The standard of review for both the performance and prejudice components of an ineffective assistance of counsel challenge are mixed questions of law and fact. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633-34 (1985). The circuit court's findings of fact will not be reversed unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 7 of 18

Whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to the defendant are questions of law reviewed de novo. *Id*.

B. Schumacher fails to show trial counsel's crossexamination of the State's expert was constitutionally deficient.

On appeal, Schumacher asserts trial counsel inadequately cross-examined the State's expert witness regarding (1) the unreliability of retrograde extrapolation and (2) the variables used by the expert to perform retrograde calculations of the defendant's blood alcohol concentration. As developed below, the record refutes Schumacher's claim that trial counsel was ineffective on these grounds.

Trial counsel's testimony at the post-conviction hearing established trial counsel believed the central issue of the trial would be the concentration of alcohol in the defendant's blood at the time the defendant drove his motor vehicle. (130:13-14, 26-27, 29.) To increase trial counsel's chance of a successful defense at trial, counsel filed a pre-trial motion asking the court to decide whether Schumacher's prohibited alcohol concentration level was 0.02 or 0.08 due to a successful collateral attack that changed the offense from a fourth to third offense. (130:26-27.) The circuit court ultimately found in Schumacher's favor and ruled the 0.08 standard was applicable to him. (130:27.)

Trial counsel anticipated the State's expert witness would use retrograde extrapolation at trial to estimate the defendant's blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving. (130:15). With this in mind, counsel's trial strategy was to "call into question the value of retrograde extrapolation." (130:31.)

Trial counsel became familiar with retrograde extrapolation early in his legal career when he reviewed books and other materials and attended a training focused on defending operating while intoxicated (OWI) offenses.

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 8 of 18

(130:15, 23-24.) As a result, he was familiar with the reliability criticisms of retrograde extrapolation calculations. (130:16-17.) Counsel was aware variables, such as: height; weight; gender; the quantity of alcohol consumed; the alcohol content of the alcohol consumed; the time of the last drink; consumption of food; and an individual's elimination rate, may impact such calculations. (130:16-19.)

In preparation to undermine the validity and reliability of retrograde extrapolation at trial, counsel reviewed materials related to retrograde extrapolation and to "cross-examining it." (130:27.) In advance of trial, counsel conferred with the defendant about his potential trial testimony, and counsel discussed the defendant's alcohol concentration and addressing retrograde extrapolation at trial with his colleagues. (130:26-28.) Knowing the importance the retrograde calculations would play at trial, counsel even attempted to speak with the State's expert witness in advance of trial about her laboratory report and the retrograde calculations he was expecting she would complete. (130:29.)

Trial counsel was prepared to confront the reliability and validity of retrograde extrapolation head-on.

Early in counsel's cross-examination of the expert, the expert conceded the alcohol concentration measured at the time of the blood draw was not the concentration in the defendant's blood at the time of driving two hours earlier. (124:209.) Counsel's questioning further effectively elicited the expert's acknowledgement she did not "know" the defendant's blood alcohol concentration at the time of driving and she could only "estimate" it. (124:209.)

On re-direct, the expert explained she could only estimate an alcohol concentration at an earlier time due to the absorption and elimination of alcohol. (124:209-10.) She cautioned her estimation would be "only as good as the information that [went into the] estimate, so it depend[ed] on

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 9 of 18

what kind of information [that was] available." (124:210.) The expert explained she needed as much information as possible to do her calculations, information that included how many alcoholic beverages were consumed; the time the beverages were consumed and their alcohol concentrations; a known alcohol concentration from a later point; the person's gender and weight; food consumption; and someone's elimination rate. (124: 211-12, 264.) When the expert was asked to do a hypothetical calculation of a 200 pound male who eliminated alcohol at a standard rate and had an alcohol concentration of 0.171 two hours post-driving, the expert estimated the person's alcohol concentration would have been between 0.190 to 0.210. (124:212).

Trial counsel did not re-cross the expert on her estimation or the facts she used to make the estimation because counsel believed the expert "had actually done a pretty good job herself of qualifying how she had come to the conclusions . . ." and the expert explained the calculations were based on a "number of variables" and "she was making guesses." (130:17.) Trial counsel testified he consciously chose to not further highlight the speculative nature of the calculation because he believed the point had been made to the jury and counsel did not "want to beat a dead horse." (130:17, 20.)

After the defendant testified to (1) consumption of alcohol in excess of what he stated to law enforcement and (2) consumption of alcohol at a time inconsistent to what he stated to law enforcement (124:121-123; 147-150; 239-46), the State recalled the expert as a rebuttal witness. (124:257.)

On direct, the expert stated she could build on her prior calculation and incorporate the newly identified facts and make an "estimate" of the defendant's alcohol concentration at the time of driving. (124:259.) The expert explicitly and unequivocally reiterated and cautioned the jury her calculations were "just an estimate." (124:259.) She explained "[t]he solid number . . . [was] the blood alcohol concentration

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 10 of 18

that was reported on the sample that was tested in [the] laboratory." (124:259.) The expert, on her own and without prompting, repeatedly warned "the estimate is only as good as the information that goes into it, and it's absolutely nowhere near as reliable and as solid as the test result itself." (124:268.) With the additional information Schumacher testified to, the expert then calculated Schumacher's blood alcohol concentration would have been between 0.08 and 0.11 at the time of driving. (124:264.)

Trial counsel quickly followed up and highlighted on cross-examination that the expert had to consider "a lot of factors" to do the calculations. (124:269). Counsel subsequently and purposefully honed in on four variables the expert was relying on for her calculations: (1) the time of consumption of alcohol; (2) the number of drinks consumed; (3) the size of the drink consumed; and (4) the alcohol content in the consumed drinks. (124:268-270.) Counsel illustrated that while retrograde extrapolation may be valid and reliable in a controlled laboratory setting with known and documented variables, it is harder to be certain of the reliability and validity in the real world with unknown and uncontrolled variables.

At the post-conviction hearing, trial counsel testified he chose to limit his cross examination to those limited issues because he did not believe "the jury was paying attention at all at that point" based on his observations of it. (130:19.) He indicated that "while [he] likely planned to go more in depth, by the time we got to cross . . . [he] just really felt like [he] had a really limited window to make an impression on the jury." (130:20.) Counsel's impression was "[he] had maybe a few questions that [the jury] would pay attention to" and he had "a really limited window to actually make an impression on the jury." (124:19.) Therefore, he adapted and chose to focus on and emphasize the variables he believed would be most familiar and understood by the jurors. (130:19.)

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 11 of 18

In closing argument, trial counsel argued and emphasized the different calculations the expert completed added up to reasonable doubt. (124:325.) He argued none of the calculations the expert did reflected the defendant's situation and that "[i]t was a lot of variables; it was a lot of speculation and guesswork." (124:326.)

Trial counsel's cross examination of the expert was far from constitutionally deficient. Trial counsel had a tough job of making the jury believe someone with an alcohol concentration nearly two times the legal limit had an alcohol concentration under 0.08 two hours earlier when he turned into oncoming traffic. In spite of this, trial counsel's cross-examination of the expert and counsel's emphasis on the parts of the expert's testimony that supported his defense demonstrated to the jurors that the State's expert could not opine with any degree of certainty what the defendant's alcohol concentration was at the time of his driving.

The record establishes counsel's cross-examination, under the circumstances of this particular case, was professionally appropriate and reasonable. Counsel accurately identified and predicted the strategy the State would use at trial. He actively, thoughtfully, and carefully prepared to mount a defense against the State's case. Counsel's strategy was to focus the juror's attention on the unreliability of retrograde extrapolation which he believed would create a reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds. Counsel's performance on cross-examination demonstrates some of the top qualities of an effective trial attorney – the ability to be flexible, to be adaptive, and the ability to shift priorities as trial unfolds.

Trial counsel had a goal. He had a plan to achieve that goal. As the trial unfolded, counsel paid attention to the jurors to try to ascertain what they might be thinking and feeling about the case. Through his observations, counsel believed the jurors had limited attention and he wanted to make the most of the time he had. To this end, counsel tailored his presentation

Case 2019AP001261 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-05-2020 Page 12 of 18

to make sure he was communicating effectively and his points were received in the best way possible.

Could counsel have rehashed the qualifications the expert attached to her calculations? Could counsel have brought up every possible variable that might be used in retrograde extrapolation? Could counsel have challenged the expert with a scholarly article from 1985? Of course. But those would be unreasonable decisions.

carefully contemplated, weighed, Counsel considered his options. Trial counsel is free, after considered judgment, to select a particular tactic among other available alternatives. Counsel selected a strategic decision that he believed would have the biggest impact and would reap the highest reward under the situation. A failed strategy does not make an attorney's representation deficient. Jury trials are evolving situations that require attorneys to adapt and make strategic decisions on the spot with limited time, sometimes seconds, to explore options. Even the best attorneys do not always perform as they would like to. The contention that trial counsel should have conducted the cross-examination differently does not establish that he was ineffective. With the benefit of hindsight, it is possible to see how a lawyer could have acted differently, and thus, assistance may be deficient, in the sense that counsel could have done better, without being constitutionally ineffective.

For these reasons, Schumacher fails to show trial counsel's cross-examination of the expert was constitutionally deficient. The circuit court's order denying relief on his claim of ineffectiveness should therefore be affirmed on this basis, without addressing whether the performance was prejudicial.

C. Schumacher fails to prove counsel's performance, if it was deficient, prejudiced him.

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